1999

Ken Ray Harward v.UTAH COUNTY, UTAH
COUNTY SHERIFF'S OFFICE, UTAH
COUNTY ATTORNEY'S OFFICE, PLEASANT
GROVE CITY, PLEASANT GROVE POLICE
DEPARTMENT, LEHI CITY, LEHI POLICE
DEPARTMENT, PROVO CITY, PROVO
POLICE DEPARTMENT, and JOHN DOES 1
THRU 10, : Brief of Appellant

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction is conferred on this Court by *Utah Code Ann.* § 78-2a-3

¹ Which the court should take judicial notice that the postmaster guarantees over-night delivery.

(1953, as amended) (2) (j) (cases transferred to the Court of Appeals from the Supreme Court). The appellant appeals the final order and judgment of the Fourth Judicial District Court, in and for Utah County involving wrongful refusal to return personal property in spite of a court order to do so.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Whether the Plaintiff complied with Section 63-30-11 (1997) by effecting delivery to the defendant's "responsible governmental entities."
2. Whether the Plaintiff effected delivery on June 7th, 1996 as guaranteed by the courier U.S. Express Mail, or on June 6th, 1996 by mail pursuant to Section 63-37-1 1953, as amended).
3. Whether the trial court erroneously computed the time for filing the Plaintiff's Complaint.

STANDARDS OF REVIEW

The trial court misinterpreted and or otherwise misapplied Sections 63-30-11 and 63-37-1 against the Plaintiff and incorrectly computed the filing deadline of the Plaintiff's Complaint.

Statutory interpretation presents a question of law. Ward v. Richfield City, 798 P.2d 757, 759 (Utah 1990). Utah appellate courts review questions of law under a correction of error standard, without deference to the trial court. Bellon v. Malnar, 808 P.2d 1089, 1092 (Utah 1991); Ward, 798 P.2d at 759.

State v. Bagshaw, 836 P.2d 1384 (Utah Ct. App. 1992).

Because the application of a statute is a question of law, the appellate court must review for correctness the actions of the trial court. *See State v. Grate*, 947 P.2d 1161, 1164 (Utah Ct. App. 1997).

STATUTES, RULES AND CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS

[Included herewith in Addendum A.]

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Nature of the Case:

This case arises from an appeal of the final judgment of the Fourth District Court. The trial court granted summary judgment against the Plaintiff and in favor of the defendants. The key issues are that the trial court incorrectly computed the filing deadline for the Plaintiff's Complaint and prejudicially applied a modified statutory provision that was not in effect at the time the Plaintiff had his notices of claim delivered to the responsible governmental entities. At the February 2, 1999 hearing, the trial court demanded the Plaintiff's counsel to show the court how the

Plaintiff complied with Section 63-30-11 (1998).² (H. at 30-39).³

II. Course of the Proceedings:

On or about June 9, 1995, the defendants, by and through agents, auctioned the Plaintiff's personal property without just compensation in violation of a court order and Article I, Section 22 of the *Utah State Constitution*. (R. at 3-4, 196-198, 254; H. at 28). As a result, pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-11 (1997), Mr. Harward had prepared and delivered notices of claim to believed responsible governmental entities, Utah County, Lehi City, Pleasant Grove City, and Provo City. This was accomplished by not only serving them onto the city council. (R. at 118-130). Facing a one-year deadline, on June 6th, 1996, the Plaintiff chose a courier who guaranteed over-night delivery by 10:30 a.m. (H. at 28). All of the notices of claim were to have their respective notices of claim delivered to them on June 7th, 1996. (R. at 155, 157; H. at 10). With the guarantee, it is presumed that the notices were all delivered no later than that and certainly within 3 days to the deadline as the statute required. If not delivered by June 9th, 1996, further proceeding by Plaintiff would be time barred.

² It was not then-known that a modification occurred during the course of the year. Hence, counsel was not prepared to argue that point because it was not raised in the defendant's dispositive motions.

³ The record does not have a continuous pagination for the Hearing transcript, it simply has a paginated cover of 409. Therefore, for simplicity in briefing, any references to the file will be cited as an "R" and citations to the transcript will be shown as an "H".

All of the defendants claimed that Plaintiff's delivery through a courier other than certified or registered U.S. Mail constituted mailing anyway on that date which would arguably mean that the date of delivery to the responsible governmental entities was on June 6th, 1996 pursuant to Section 63-37-1 *et seq.* (R. at 110, 168, 205,

Pursuant to Utah Law, under Section 63-30-14, the plaintiff must then allow the governmental entities 90 days to accept liability. Once the 90 days expires or when the entities otherwise deny liability, the plaintiff must file his suit within one year from that date or face being time-barred. The date of the expiration is the question before this Court. The defendants all claim that none of them admitted liability and they all deny submitting to Plaintiff rejection letters. Thus, the only issue is when the actual 90 days expired. (R. at 262). The defendants all claim that the 90-days expired ninety-days from June 6th, 1996 or September 4th, 1996.⁴ *Id.*

The Plaintiff relying on the plain language of Section 63-30-11, requiring their "delivery" to the governmental bodies did not consider the claims delivered until June 7th, 1996. The delivery of said notices is specifically required by Section 63-30-11 to comply with the Governmental Immunity Act, 63-30-1 *et seq.* and the Plaintiff did not generally rely on other provisions outside of the Act. The defendants on the other hand all argued that the Plaintiff's delivery of said notice was accomplished on June 6th,

⁴ Except for Pleasant Grove who interestingly attempts to purport even a need to earlier file as soon as September 3rd, 1996. This argument was not adopted by the Court. Such an argument disregarded the well-established computation rule not to include the date of the "act, event, or default." *See* Rule 6(a) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

1996 because of the general provision Section 63-37-1 *et seq.* The court ultimately bought the argument and concluded that the Plaintiff delivered his notices of claim on June 6th. (H. at 48-50). However, this notion is misplaced. In order for a party to claim protection under Section 63-37-1, he needs to full compliance with the provisions outlined in Section 63-37-2. The minimum requirements provide that the documents need to be certified or registered mail delivered to the U.S. Mail with a follow up within 30 days thereafter. (H. at 34). No such action was taken by the Plaintiff for the defendants claim Section 63-37-1's application against the Plaintiff. As a matter of fact, no defendant raised an affirmative defense a violation of Section 63-37-1. (H. at 25).

Thereafter, the Plaintiff had until September 5, 1997 in which to file his Complaint. (R. at 157). However, according to the defendants' claim and the Court's adopted position, the complaint allegedly should have been filed with the court on September 4th, 1997. But as the Court put it, "it appears to me that 63-37-1 does control in this case." (H. at 48). The court, however, has erred. The U.S. Express Mail service is in direct competition with UPS, Federal Express, Airborne Express, DHL, and other such courier services—just to name a few.

III. Disposition in Trial Court:

No trial occurred. On February 2, 1999, the trial court held a disposition

motions hearing. (R. at 323, 409). Consequently, the court held that Section 63-37-1 was controlling and he granted summary judgment for the defendants. (H. at 48).

IV. Statement of Facts:

See part II above.⁵

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Summary judgment in favor of the defendants. The court granted summary judgment allegedly due to two reasons: (1) The plaintiff failed to properly serve the city and county clerks pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-11 (1998). The Plaintiff served the defendants' respective governing bodies pursuant to the 1997 version of said provision. The court accepted the defendants' arguments that they did not receive any notice of the claims in spite of them being delivered to the city council and their respective police chiefs.

Also, the court erroneously agreed with the defendants that Section 63-37-1 was controlling, which consequently affected the computation of time. The court bought the argument that the Court should find that the Plaintiff was one day late filing his Complaint with the district court by applying Utah Code Ann. § 63-37-1 (1953, as amended) and then computed the date of delivery to be the date of so-called

⁵ The course of the proceedings is the nature of this appeal as this matter was dismissed with the granting summary judgment for the defendants.

mailing. The date that Plaintiff shipped the notices via U.S. Express Mail⁶ was June 6th, 1996. The Plaintiff intended the notices to be delivered on the 7th of June—to meet the one-year filing deadline for notices of claim pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-13 (1953, as amended) (the deadline was June 9th, 1999).

The Plaintiff was severely prejudiced by the court when it accepted the defendants arguments. Firstly, the Plaintiff did comply with Section 63-30-11 by delivering said notices of claim to the governing bodies' respective councils. Secondly, the court violated Rule 6(a), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure regarding the computation of time. The rule specifically disallows the inclusion of the “day of the act, event, or default” in the computation of time. The court allowed such an inclusion and found that the Plaintiff failed to file his Complaint timely by a day.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE DEFENDANTS WERE NOT ENTITLED TO A DISMISSAL AS A MATTER OF LAW—THE PLAINTIFF’S DELIVERY BY U.S. EXPRESS MAIL ON JUNE 7th, 1996 WAS THE APPROPRIATE DATE TO START THE COMPUTATION FOR A SEPTEMBER 5, 1997 DEADLINE FOR FILING HIS COMPLAINT.

On or about June 9, 1995, the defendants, by and through agents, auctioned Mr. Harward’s personal property without just compensation in violation of a

⁶ Which the court should take judicial notice that the postmaster guarantees over-night delivery.

court order and Article I, Section 22 of the *Utah State Constitution*. (R. at 3-4, 196-198, 254; H. at 28). As a result, pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-11 (1997), Mr. Harward had prepared and delivered notices of claim to believed responsible governmental entities, Utah County, Lehi City, Pleasant Grove City, and Provo City. This was accomplished by not only serving them onto the city council, (R. at 118-130), but onto their respective police chiefs. The Utah Supreme Court, in Sweet v. Salt Lake City, 43 Utah 306, 134 P. 1167 (1913) stated that the purpose of notice-of-claim requirement is to require every claimant to state clearly all of the elements of his claims to the board of commissioners or city council for allowance as a condition precedent to his right to sue the city and recover his damages in an ordinary action.

Facing a one-year deadline, on June 6th, 1996, the Plaintiff chose a courier who guaranteed over-night delivery by 10:30 a.m. (H. at 28).⁷ All of the notices of claim were to have their respective notices of claim delivered to them on June 7th, 1996. (R. at 155, 157; H. at 10). With the guarantee, it's presumed that the notices were all delivered no later than that date and certainly within 3 days to the deadline just as the 1997 version of Section 63-30-11 required. If not delivered by June 9th, 1996, further proceeding by Plaintiff would be time barred. Any claimant only has one year to demand a claim. It's for this reason, the Plaintiff believed that he

⁷ Bruce Oliver, Plaintiff's attorney, debated between using U.S. Express Mail service, UPS, Federal Express, Airborne Express, and DHL. He selected U.S. Express Mail because the nearest post office was only a-half-a-block away located at 230 West 200 South.

substantially complied with Section 63-30-11. This Section read:

- (1) A claim arises when the statute of limitations that would apply if the claim were against a private person begins to run.
- (2) Any person having a claim for injury against a governmental entity, or against its employee for an act or omission occurring during the performance of the employee's duties, within the scope of employment, or under color of authority shall file a written notice of claim with the entity before maintaining an action, regardless of whether or not the function giving rise to the claim is characterized as governmental.
- (3) (a) The notice of claim shall set forth:
 - (i) a brief statement of the facts;
 - (ii) the nature of the claim asserted; and
 - (iii) the damages incurred by the claimant so far as they are known.(b) The notice of claim shall be:
 - (i) signed by the person making the claim or that person's agent, attorney, parent, or legal guardian; and
 - (ii) directed and delivered to the responsible governmental entity according to the requirements of Section 63-30-12 or 63-30-13.
- (4) (a) If the claimant is under the age of majority, or mentally incompetent and without a legal guardian at the time the claim arises, the claimant may apply to the court to extend the time for service of notice of claim.
 - (b) (i) After hearing and notice to the governmental entity, the court may extend the time for service of notice of claim.
 - (ii) The court may not grant an extension that exceeds the applicable statute of limitations.
 - (c) In determining whether or not to grant an extension, the court shall consider whether the delay in serving the notice of claim will substantially prejudice the governmental entity in maintaining its defense on the merits.

Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-11 (1997).

In this matter, the Plaintiff complied with this provision to the letter. This statute specifically deals with notice of claims and dealing with matters under the Governmental Immunity Act. The focal point in this matter is the “delivery” to the “responsible governmental bodies”. This was accomplished by the Plaintiff timely.

The date that the delivery was to be completed in light of the U.S. Express Mail guarantee is that the delivered would be accomplished no later than 10:30 a.m. following the date it was placed into the care of the courier—in this case it happened to be the postmaster.

Because the Plaintiff chose the postmaster, the defendants were armed with a shaky defense that this accomplished mailing and that pursuant to Section 63-37-1 *et seq.* the date of delivery was June 6th instead of June 7th. In this matter, defendants are not entitled to the defense. Firstly, Section 63-30-11 is specific in nature and Section 63-37-1 is a general one. Contrary to the defendants' arguments and the court's conclusion, Section 63-37-1 is not controlling. The long-standing policy is that "specific statutes control over more general ones," State v. Lowder, 889 P.2d 412, 414 (Utah 1994). Since the issue at hand is whether there was compliance with the immunity act any other provision dealing with mailing claims in general is not controlling. However, Plaintiff would concede that such a general provision could have been utilized by him however he would not be entitled to its protection unless there was strict compliance with the provisions of Section 63-37-1 *et seq.* See Litster v. Utah Valley Community College, 881 P.2d 933 (Utah Ct. App. 1994). In this matter, the Plaintiff did not attempt service under Section 63-37-1 *et seq.* Moreover, there was no strict compliance of said provisions. Without strict compliance with the plain language of the sections it cannot be applied to protect any party whether raised by the

defense or by the Plaintiff. In this case, the defense.

Section 63-37-1 *et seq.* provides:

Section 63-37-1. When Postmark date deemed filing date – When mailing date deemed filing date.

Any report, claim, tax return, statement or other document or any payment required or authorized to be filed or made to the state of Utah, or to any political subdivision thereof, which is:

(1) Transmitted through the United States mail, shall be deemed filed or made and received by the state or political subdivisions on the date shown by the post-office cancellation mark stamped upon the envelope or other appropriate wrapper containing it.

(2) Mailed but not received by the state or political subdivisions where received and the cancellation mark is illegible, erroneous, or omitted, shall be deemed filed or made and received on the date it was mailed if the sender establishes by competent evidence that the report, claim, tax return, statement or other document or payment was deposited in the United States mail on or before the date for filing or paying; and in cases of such nonreceipt of any such report, tax return, statement, or other document required by law to be filed, the sender files with the state or political subdivision a duplicate within thirty days after written notification is given to the sender by the state or political subdivisions of its nonreceipt of such report, tax return, statement, or other document.

63-37-2. Registered or certified mail - Record as proof of delivery.

If any such report, claim, tax return, statement or other document or payment is sent by United States mail and either registered or certified, a record authenticated by the United States post office of such registration or certification shall be considered competent evidence that the report, claim, tax return, statement or other document or payment was delivered to the state officer or state agency or officer or agency of the political subdivision to which addressed, and the date of registration or certification shall be deemed the postmarked date.

63-37-3. Filing date falling on Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday.

If the date for filing any such report, claim, tax return, statement or other document or making any such payment falls upon a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday, such acts shall be considered timely if performed on the next business

day.
Id.

All of the defendants claimed that Plaintiff's delivery was June 6th, 1996 pursuant to 63-37-1. However, their arguments do not withstand the *Litster* Test. In *Litster v. Utah Valley Community College*, 881 P.2d 933 (Utah Ct. App. 1994), this Court stated that there was "delineates a two-step process by which receipt can be established." The Court went on to explain:

The document shall be deemed filed or made and received on the date it was mailed if the sender establishes by competent evidence that the report, claim, tax return, statement or other document or payment was deposited in the United States mail on or before the date for filing or paying; **and**. . . the sender files with the state or political subdivision a duplicate within thirty days after written notification is given to the sender by the state or political subdivisions of its nonreceipt of such report, tax return, statement, or other document.

Id. (Emphasis by the Court). In this matter, the Plaintiff was not relying on Section 63-37-1 as was *Litster*. *Litster* was not allowed to claim mailing protection under Section 63-37-1 as the defendants in this should not be allowed. Reliance on Section 63-37-1 is clearly misplaced. The Plaintiff did not send the notices of claim to the governmental entities via certified or registered U.S. Mail. The Plaintiff intended their delivery to be on June 7th, 1996 as required under Section 63-30-11. This is contrary to the defendants claims; the defendants argued that the effective date of delivery should have been June 6th, 1996. (R. at 110, 168, 205). This notion is wrong.

Moreover, "In determining whether the trial court properly found there were no genuine material issues of fact, we review the facts in the light most favorable

to the losing party, while giving no deference to the trial court's legal conclusions."

Promark Group, Inc. v. Harris Corp., 860 P.2d 964, 966 (Utah App. 1993); *accord* Projects Unlimited, Inc. v. Copper State Thrift & Loan Co., 798 P.2d 738, 743 (Utah 1990). In this matter, it is highly likely that this Court will find in favor of Mr.

Harward. In essence, the defendants are arguing that the trial court should grant them summary judgment not for the Complaint being filed late but rather because they were given one extra day notice prior to filing of the Complaint. This is not a fair and just way of conducting government. The government cannot have their cake and eat it too! In *Litster*, the government won because Section 63-37-1 was not applied thereby causing defective notice of claim. In this case, it is the government who is attempting to use Section 63-37-1 to its favor. This time claiming that Mr. Harward filed his claim on June 6th, 1996 and not by relying on Section 63-30-1, which specifically mandates a "delivery." The statute fails to describe mailing or filing as specific conduct necessary for complying with the notice requirements of the Governmental Immunity Act.

Pursuant to Utah Law, under Section 63-30-14, the plaintiff must then allow the governmental entities 90 days to accept liability. Once the 90 days expires or when the entities otherwise deny liability, the plaintiff must file his suit within one year from that date or face being time-barred. The date of the expiration is the question before this Court. The defendants all claim that none of them admitted liability and

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