1999

Ken Ray Harward v. Utah County, Utah County  
Sherrif's Office, Utah County Attorney's Office,  
Pleasant Grove City, Pleasant Grove Police  
Department, Lehi City, Lehi Police Department,  
Provo City, Provo City Police Department : Brief of  
Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS**

The Defendant governmental entities show in this brief that Plaintiff failed to file his lawsuit against them within one year after expiration of the time to deny the claim as required by §63-30-15 of the Utah Code.

Section 63-37-1 of the Utah Code provides that a claim is filed when it is deposited in the United States Mail. By failing to include this particular statute in his calculations of the time to file his lawsuit, Plaintiff erred and missed the filing deadline.

This brief additionally shows Plaintiff's attempt to avoid the consequences of his untimely failing by asking the Court to take judicial notice of when mail is delivered is not allowed by the Utah Rules of Evidence in the circumstances.

Finally, Defendants show that they have always plead the defense that the Plaintiff failed to comply with the Utah Governmental Immunity Act so that arguments made in his brief to the effect that the affirmative defense had been waived are incorrect.

### **ARGUMENT**

#### **A. Plaintiff's Suit Against Defendants Is Barred as Untimely Under the Utah Governmental Immunity Act.**

Plaintiff's suit against Defendants for recovery of personal property seized during a drug arrest is governed by the Utah Governmental Immunity Act ("Governmental

Immunity Act” or “Act”), Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-1 *et seq.* (1997). The Governmental Immunity Act recognizes the doctrine of sovereign immunity as essential to the protection of governmental entities “in rendering the many and ever increasing number of governmental services.” Taylor v. Ogden City School District, 927 P.2d 159, 162 (Utah 1996). The Act establishes, however, waivers to the immunity doctrine by creating certain statutory causes of action against governmental entities. See e.g. Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-10 (1997) (“Waiver of immunity for injury caused by negligent acts”). The Act also establishes notice and filing requirements for a claimant to perform before the statutory causes of action are perfected. Courts have consistently held that “where a cause of action is based upon a statute, full compliance with its requirements is a condition precedent to the right to maintain a suit.” Scarborough v. Granite School District, 531 P.2d 480, 482 (Utah 1975). Plaintiff has failed to fully comply with the Immunity Act's condition precedent notice and filing requirements to maintain his suit. As such, Plaintiff's suit is barred.

The notice and filing provisions of the Immunity Act require that before a Plaintiff may initiate suit against a political subdivision, a notice of claim must be directed and delivered to the governing body of the political subdivision within one year after the claim arises. Utah Code Ann. §§ 63-30-11(3)(b)(ii) and 63-30-13 (1997). Thereafter, the political subdivision has ninety days to accept or deny the claim, or have the claim

deemed denied if silent after the expiration of the ninety day period. Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-14 (1997). If a Plaintiff's claim is denied or deemed denied with expiration of the ninety day period, Plaintiff has one year thereafter to file suit. Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-15(2) (1997) ("The claimant shall begin the action within one year after denial of the claim or within one year after the denial period specified in this chapter has expired . . .").

In this case, the trial court granted summary judgment in favor of all Defendants holding that Plaintiff failed to timely file his complaint within the one year following the expiration of the ninety day period. That holding was based upon a finding that the ninety-day notice period began on June 6, 1996, the date upon which Plaintiff placed his notices of claim within the United States Mail and are deemed delivered on that date pursuant to § 63-37-1 of the Utah Code. The trial court succinctly explained its holding in its Ruling denying Plaintiff's Motion for a New Trial:

The Court finds that the date of filing Plaintiff's Notices of claim is June 6, 1996, per § 63-37-1. Plaintiff had one year from the claim denial date to file suit. September 4, 1996, is deemed the claim denial date, because it is 90 days after the date of filing the Notices of Claim. Therefore, the last date for Plaintiff to timely file was September 3, 1997. The Plaintiff's suit against Defendants, filed on September 5, 1997, is time barred as failing to comply with § 63-30-15 of the Utah Governmental Immunity Act.

Ruling, dated March 17, 1999, R., p. 368. The trial court's ruling is correct as a matter of law and should be affirmed.



**B. The Trial Court Correctly Ruled That Plaintiff's Notices Were Deemed Delivered On June 6, 1996 Pursuant to §63-37-1 of the Utah Code.**

To prove delivery of his Notices of Claim to Defendants, Plaintiff produced the Notices of Claim addressed to each Defendant and Customer Copy Receipts of U.S. Postal Service Express Mail addressed to each Defendant (collectively referred to as "Customer Copy Receipts"). R., pp. 121, 127, 139, 145. See, Addendum "G". Plaintiff uses the Customer Copy Receipts to show he sent notices to the Defendants through the United States Mails on June 6, 1996. Note that none of these receipts actually show delivery of the notices, only that this form was completed at the time of mailing.

For delivery of notices of claim, the Utah Governmental Immunity Act neither specifies the manner in which notices are to be delivered (e.g. via service by constable, hand-delivery, mail, facsimile etc.), nor the computation of time for the type of delivery performed. However, while the Utah Governmental Immunity Act does not provide the foregoing guidance or requirements, Chapter 37 of Title 63<sup>2</sup> of the Utah Code does so for notices of claims which are transmitted through the United States Mail. § 63-37-1 of the Utah Code provides:

---

<sup>2</sup> The Utah Code entitles Title 63 as "State Affairs in General". See Utah Code Ann. Vol. 6D p. 1 (1997).

**MAILING REPORTS, CLAIMS,  
RETURNS, STATEMENTS AND  
OTHER DOCUMENTS TO  
STATE OR POLITICAL  
SUBDIVISIONS**

**63-37-1. When postmark date deemed filing date -- When mailing date deemed filing date.**

Any report, *claim*, tax return, statement or other document or any payment required or authorized to be filed or made to the state of Utah, or to any political subdivision thereof, which is:

(1) Transmitted through the United States mail, shall be deemed filed or made and received by the state or political subdivisions on the date shown by the post-office cancellation mark stamped upon the envelope or other appropriate wrapper containing it.

(2) Mailed but not received by the state or political subdivisions where received and the cancellation mark is illegible, erroneous, or omitted, shall be deemed filed or made and received on the date it was mailed if the sender establishes by competent evidence that the report, claim, tax return, statement or other document or payment was deposited in the United States mail on or before the date for filing or paying; and in cases of such nonreceipt of any such report, tax return, statement, or other document required by law to be filed, the sender files with the state or political subdivision a duplicate within thirty days after written notification is given to the sender by the state or political subdivisions of its nonreceipt of such report, tax return, statement, or other document.

Utah Code Ann. § 63-37-1 (1997) (emphasis added).<sup>3</sup> Utah courts have looked to §63-37-1 of the Utah Code when determining whether a Plaintiff complied with the notice requirements of the Utah Governmental Immunity Act. See Lister v. Utah Valley Community College, 881 P.2d 933 (Utah Ct. App. 1994) (discussed *infra*).

Pursuant to § 63-37-1(1), when a Plaintiff has a claim against the state or political subdivision and he/she transmits their notice of claim through the United States Mail, that notice is deemed filed and received by the governmental entity on the date shown by the post-office cancellation mark or other appropriate wrapping. Plaintiff allegedly delivered his notices of claim to Defendants via U.S. Express Mail and the wrapper receipts Plaintiff produced were the Customer Copy Receipts showing the date of mailing as June 6, 1996. Therefore, §63-37-1 applies and the date upon which Plaintiff's notices are deemed filed is June 6, 1996.

Computing the delivery date of the Notices of Claim as June 6, 1996, the ninety (90) day notice period expired on September 4, 1996 and the filing period for Plaintiff's action expired on September 4, 1997. Plaintiff's Complaint, being filed September 5, 1997, is barred as untimely under §63-30-13 through 15 of the Governmental Immunity

---

<sup>3</sup> § 63-37-2 of the Utah Code addresses the time computation for claims filed and delivered via registered or certified mail and "the date of registration or certification shall be deemed the postmark date." Utah Code Ann. § 63-37-2 (1997).

Act. Therefore, the trial court was correct in granting Defendants summary judgment and dismissing Plaintiff's suit with prejudice.

Computation made in the preceding paragraph shows that Harward filed his action one day late. This computation is made by following the usual rule that the one year allowed in §63-30-13 to file a lawsuit after denial of the claim begins the day after the last day the governmental entity had to deny the claim. Pleasant Grove City argued to the trial court that the Harward lawsuit was actually filed two days late. R., p. 172. Pleasant Grove argued that the language of 63-30-13 is that the lawsuit must be filed "within" one year after denial of the claim. Looking at a calendar, 365 days after September 4, 1996, is September 3, 1997. A diagram of this calculation taken from R., p. 165 is reproduced in the addendum. Certainly, whether one adopts the Pleasant Grove City method of calculation or that suggested by the other Defendants in this brief, Plaintiff's Complaint was filed at least one day late and is thereby barred.

**C. Plaintiff Fails To Show Why § 63-37-1 Does Not Apply To This Case.**

In his Appellant's Brief, Plaintiff argues that the trial court erred in applying § 63-37-1 to the delivery of his notices of claim and computing the time he had to file suit based upon that statute. He makes both legal and factual arguments as to why § 63-37-1 does not apply in this case, but, as shown below, each argument fails.

First, Plaintiff argues that § 63-37-1 does not apply to compute the delivery date of his notices of claim because § 63-30-11 controls the question of delivery. To support his argument, Plaintiff asserts the statutory construction principle that when two statutes address the same subject the specific statute controls over the general statute.

While Plaintiff's recitation of the statutory construction principle regarding specific versus general statutes is correct, it is misapplied in this case because §63-30-11 and 63-37-1 do not address the same subject, but rather address corresponding subject matter. § 63-30-11 sets out the required content to be contained in a notice of claim and requires that the notice be directed and delivered to the responsible governmental entity for the state or political subdivision. Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-11. § 63-30-11 does not, however, mandate a particular manner of delivery for the notices, (e.g. personal service), nor does the provision establish the way to compute time for the type of delivery performed. § 63-37-1 addresses the subjects of manner and computation time with respect to mail delivery and deems the time of delivery to be the date as "shown by the post office cancellation mark stamped upon the envelope or other appropriate wrapper containing it." Utah Code Ann. § 63-37-1(1) (1997). Therefore, both Sections 63-30-11 and 63-37-1 address conforming subject areas and in this case both apply since Plaintiff delivered his notices of claim through the United States Mail.

Second, Plaintiff argues that the requirements of §63-37-1 are not met in this case in the same manner they were not met in the case of Lister v. Utah Valley Community College, 881 P.2d 933 (Utah Ct. App. 1994). While the Lister case demonstrates that § 63-37-1 applies to notices of claim under the Governmental Immunity Act, its holding is distinguishable from the facts in this case.

In Lister, the plaintiff filed a personal injury suit against the Utah Valley Community College (“UVCC”). As a defense and the subject of a summary judgment motion, UVCC asserted that the plaintiff failed to deliver his notice of claim to the Utah State Attorney General as required by Sections 63-30-11 and 12 of the Governmental Immunity Act. The plaintiff alleged that he had mailed the notice of claim to the Attorney General, but he did not have proof of mailing by a post-office cancellation mark or mark on another appropriate wrapper as required by § 63-37-1(1). However, the plaintiff attempted to prove that the notice was mailed to the Attorney General pursuant to § 63-37-1(2) by way of presenting affidavit testimony regarding plaintiff's counsel's office mailing custom. The trial court granted UVCC's summary judgment motion finding that the plaintiff's evidence of office mailing custom was insufficient to prove mailing and delivery to the Attorney General.

The Utah Court of Appeals affirmed summary judgment finding that the plaintiff

failed to show that a notice of claim specifically addressed to the Attorney General's Office had ever been prepared. Lister, 881 P.2d at 941. In making that finding, the Lister Court established criteria for proving mailing through office mailing custom and that criteria is: 1) showing that the document that was allegedly mailed was actually prepared, and 2) showing that the document in question was mailed. Id. at 940. The plaintiff in Lister failed to prove either criteria to meet the burden of proving mailing under §63-37-1(2).

The issue on appeal in this case is not whether delivery took place, but rather, assuming delivery took place by mail, what date is deemed the delivery date for Plaintiff's Notices of Claim. Plaintiff, unlike the plaintiff in Lister, claims to have proved delivery by producing the Customer Copy Receipts, dated June 6, 1996. Assuming the Receipts to be valid and authentic, they show that the notices of claim were transmitted by mail and the date shown on the Receipts of June 6, 1996 is deemed the date of delivery. Accordingly, § 63-37-1(1) is triggered and neither plaintiff nor Defendant have to prove evidence of delivery pursuant to § 63-37-1(2). as the plaintiff attempted to do in Lister. Computing the delivery date as of June 6, 1996 demonstrates that Plaintiff's suit filed September 5, 1997 was untimely, being one year and ninety-one days after delivery of the notices. Thus, the ruling in Lister regarding proof of delivery does not prove that

§63-37-1(1) does not apply to this case and date of delivery should not be June 6, 1996.

Third, Plaintiff claims that in order to trigger the application and effect of §63-37-1, the notice of claim must be mailed to the state or political subdivision by registered or certified mail as required by § 63-37-2. A plain reading of Sections 63-37-2 and 63-37-1 show that they apply to two different types of mailings and both do not require registered or certified mailing. § 63-37-2 addresses and applies to documents specifically transmitted via registered or certified mail. Utah Code Ann. § 63-37-2 (1997) (“sent by United States mail and either registered or certified”). § 63-37-1 applies to documents generally “transmitted through the United States mail.” Utah Code Ann. § 63-37-1 (1997). Therefore, registered or certified mail is not required and Plaintiff is again wrong in claiming that §63-37-1 does not apply to this case.

Fourth, Plaintiff argues that he never intended to have delivery of his notice of claim computed pursuant to § 63-37-1, for June 6, 1996. Rather he intended the delivery time to be computed from June 7, 1996 based upon overnight delivery service. To support his assertion, Plaintiff claims that the Court should take judicial notice that the postmaster guarantees overnight delivery.

Judicial Notice is governed by Rule 201 of the Utah Rules of Evidence and as an evidentiary rule it must be asserted at the trial level and cannot be raised for the first time



on appeal. Mel Trimble Real Estate v. Monte Vista Ranch, Inc., 758 P.2d 451, 455-56 (Utah Ct. App.) *cert. denied*, 769 P.2d 819 (Utah 1988) (court of appeals would not take judicial notice of record in prior proceeding as the assertion of judicial notice was raised for the first time on appeal). Plaintiff did not assert judicial notice of his manner of delivery at the trial level and therefore this Court cannot take judicial notice of the delivery now.

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